## MEMORY OF FEARFUL EVENTS: THE ROLE OF FIBROBLAST GROWTH FACTOR-2 IN FEAR ACQUISITION AND EXTINCTION

#### B. M. GRAHAM<sup>a\*</sup> AND R. RICHARDSON<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Harvard Medical School and Massachusetts General Hospital, 149 13th St. Charlestown, 02129 Boston, MA, USA

<sup>b</sup>School of Psychology, UNSW, 2052, Sydney, Australia

Abstract—Research during the past decade has led to a tremendous growth in our understanding of how fear memories are acquired and subsequently inhibited on a neural and molecular level. Such research has contributed to significant developments in the treatment of anxiety disorders, and has considerably advanced our understanding of the neurobiology of learning and memory in general. A number of recent studies have examined the role of growth factors in the formation of long-term memory for fearful events, due to their ability to cause morphological neural changes in response to environmental stimulation. In this review we first describe physiological evidence that fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF2) receptors are highly expressed in the neural circuitry regulating fear acquisition and extinction, and that FGF2 modulates the molecular signals known to be involved in the formation of fear memories. Then we present emerging behavioral research that demonstrates that exogenous FGF2 can enhance the formation of fear conditioning and extinction memories. Finally, we briefly discuss how research into the role of FGF2 in learning and memory may be of clinical benefit, particularly in the treatment of anxiety disorders. © 2011 IBRO. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

## Key words: fibroblast growth factor-2, fear conditioning, fear extinction, anxiety, memory, long-term potentiation.

#### Contents

Fibroblast growth factor-2: background	157
Neural evidence for a role for FGF2 in fear memories	158
Overview of the neural circuitry involved in fear acquisiti	on
and extinction	158
FGF2 and the neural circuitry of fear acquisition and	
extinction	158
Molecular evidence of a role for FGF2	
in fear memories	159
FGF2 and glutamate	159
FGF2 and Ca <sup>2+</sup> influx	160

\*Corresponding author. Tel: +1-617-643-1156; fax: +1-617-726-4078. E-mail address: bmgraham@nmr.mgh.harvard.edu (B. M. Graham). *Abbreviations*: BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; BLA, basolateral complex of the amygdala; BNST, bed nuclei of the stria terminalis; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; CeA, central nucleus of the amygdala; CREB, cAMP response element binding protein; CS, conditioned stimulus; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; *Fgfr1*, FGF receptor-1; FGF2, fibroblast growth factor-2; IL, infralimbic region of the prefrontal cortex; LTP, long-term potentiation; LVGCCs, L-type voltage gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MEK, MAPK kinase; mPFC, medial prefrontal cortex; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate; PKC, calcium/phospholid-dependent protein kinase; PND, postnatal day; TrkB, tyrosine kinase B; US, unconditioned stimulus.

0306-4522/11 \$ - see front matter © 2011 IBRO. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.05.041

FGF2 and PKC	160
FGF2 and cAMP	160
FGF2 and MAPK	160
FGF2 and CREB	160
FGF2 and long-term-potentiation	161
FGF2 and neurogenesis	161
FGF2 and the molecular biology of fear extinction	161
Interim summary	162
Behavioral evidence for a role for	
FGF2 in fear memories	162
FGF2 and anxiety	162
FGF2 and fear acquisition	162
FGF2 and fear extinction	163
Evidence that endogenous FGF2 regulates memory fe	ormation
	164
Practical applications	165
Summary and future directions	165
Acknowledgments	166
References	166

The neurobiology underlying fear memories, both their acquisition and inhibition (i.e., extinction), has become increasingly well characterized over the years. This has had a number of clinical applications, including the development of drugs that interfere with the consolidation/reconsolidation of fearful memories and drugs that enhance the acquisition and/or consolidation of fear extinction memories (for a recent review see Graham et al., in press). However, most of the documented neurobiological changes that characterize fear memories are relatively transient, which leads to the question of how these memories persist. One approach to this issue which has recently started being explored has focused on the role of growth factors in memory formation. Growth factors cause structural changes within the brain and therefore may be in part responsible for the persistence of fear memories. One example is brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which has been comprehensively reviewed in a number of recent papers (Cunha et al., 2010; Lu et al., 2008). Another example is fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF2). Although FGF2 has received much less attention than BDNF regarding its potential role in learning and memory, a vast body of research has demonstrated that FGF2 modulates, and is modulated by, the molecular processes that underlie fear memories. Further, recent research has shown that systemic FGF2 modulates both fear acquisition and extinction memories. The purpose of this review is to describe the neural, molecular, and behavioral evidence that suggests that FGF2 is involved in the regulation of fear memories.

The most common ways of modeling fear acquisition and inhibition in the laboratory are through Pavlovian fear conditioning and fear extinction, and as such, this review

focuses on how FGF2 may be involved in the neurobiology underlying memories produced by these procedures. In Pavlovian fear conditioning a neutral conditioned stimulus (CS, e.g., a tone or a light) is paired with an aversive unconditioned stimulus (US, e.g., a mild footshock) such that subsequent presentations of the CS alone elicit fear responses such as freezing, increased heart rate, and secretion of stress hormones. This particular procedure is termed "cued fear conditioning," but it also produces fear of the context (i.e., a diffuse cue) in which the conditioning procedure took place. Contextual fear conditioning can also be achieved by merely placing the animal in a distinct context and presenting the US some time after. In extinction, the animal is exposed to the CS (i.e., the discrete cue or the diffuse context) repeatedly in the absence of any aversive outcome, and the animals' fear responses decrease as they learn that the CS no longer predicts the US. When tested with the CS the following day the animal typically exhibits long-term memory for extinction, indexed by reduced levels of conditioned fear responding.

Laboratory studies of conditioning and extinction in non-human animals have led to significant discoveries regarding the behavioral and neural processes underlying fear acquisition and fear inhibition in humans, and furthermore, have contributed to improvements in exposurebased treatments for humans with anxiety disorders (Milad et al., 2006). As such, investigations of these procedures are not only theoretically interesting, as they provide insight into basic memory processes, but they are also potentially useful clinically.

## FIBROBLAST GROWTH FACTOR-2: BACKGROUND

A growth factor is any substance (usually a protein or steroid hormone) that is capable of regulating cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival. The concept that extracellular signals can cause nerve cell growth is over half a century old, yet it is only in the past two decades that knowledge about the types and diversity of growth factors, and an understanding of the intracellular signaling cascades that they initiate, has emerged (Nestler et al., 2001). FGF2 is one ligand of a large family of growth factors that are involved in many physiological processes during development through to adulthood. In vertebrates, there are 22 FGF ligands (Ornitz and Itoh, 2001) and four FGF receptors have been identified in rodents while five FGF receptors have been identified in humans (Turner et al., 2006). FGF receptors are tyrosine kinase receptors. FGF2 is a single chain polypeptide protein, and is the most widely studied ligand of the FGF family. Its extensive range of physiological functions within the CNS has been well-characterized over the past 25 years, and research into FGF2 has contributed significantly to our understanding of the development of the nervous system, and the mechanisms underlying neuronal proliferation, survival, and repair, across the lifespan.

FGF2 is expressed in most tissues, but is expressed most abundantly in both neuronal and glial cells in the CNS. While the mechanisms and conditions under which growth factors are secreted is generally not well understood, recent work has suggested that FGF2 is released during stress and upon cell damage (see below). It has been shown in rodents that upon release FGF2 can bind to all four FGF receptors, but the FGF receptor-1 (*Fgfr1*) is the main receptor to which FGF2 binds and is located on the cell surface (Klint and Claesson-Welsh, 1999). The expression of FGF2 in the CNS increases across development (Unsicker et al., 1991) and by adulthood FGF2 is expressed abundantly in most regions of the CNS.

During development, FGF2 is involved in determining brain morphology. *In vitro*, FGF2 promotes the proliferation and survival of fetal and postnatal cells cultured from many areas of the brain including the hippocampus (Ray et al., 1993; Walicke et al., 1986), the entorhinal, frontal, parietal, and occipital cortices (Walicke, 1988) and the striatum, septum, thalamus, and cerebral cortex (Matsuda et al., 1990; Morrison et al., 1986). Further, FGF2 is required for the differentiation of embryonic hippocampal cells (Vicario-Abejon et al., 1995), and the promotion of axonal branching *in vitro* (Aoyagi et al., 1994).

FGF2 is also involved in many functions of the adult brain. For example, i.c.v. infusions of FGF2 increased neurogenesis in the subventricular zone of the hippocampus (Wagner et al., 1999), and chronic posterior lateral ventricular infusions of FGF2 in middle aged rats increased neurogenesis and enhanced dendritic growth in the subventricular zone and dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (Rai et al., 2007). Furthermore, FGF2 promotes survival and regenerative plasticity in response to brain injury during adulthood. For example, lesions cause increases in FGF2 expression, and application of FGF2 in the wound site increases astrocytic density and reduces cell death, suggesting that FGF2 causes astrocytic reactivity and/or proliferation in response to injury (Anderson et al., 1988; Gomez-Pinilla et al., 1995).

FGF2 secretion also appears to be modulated by the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which mediates the mammalian response to stress. For example, adrenalectomy in rats reduced the expression of FGF2 in the hippocampus, striatum, and frontal cortex, suggesting that adrenal hormones (including glucocorticoids and mineralocorticoids, which are responsible for terminating the stress response) exert control over FGF2 (see review by Molteni et al., 2001). Furthermore, restraint stress (or administration of glucocorticoids) leads to an up-regulation of FGF2 mRNA expression in various brain regions, including the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex (Molteni et al., 2001). Such studies, coupled with the fact that FGF2 increases neurogenesis, have led to the hypothesis that FGF2 plays a neuroprotective role in response to stress.

The research described above demonstrates that FGF2 has an important role in many aspects of CNS functioning, including neuronal development and regeneration, as well as the physiological stress response. In the next sections it is proposed that in addition to these physiological functions, FGF2 may also be involved in longterm memory formation. Indeed, the fact that FGF2 regulates morphological changes in the brain during development and in response to external stimulation (i.e., brain injury and stress) during adulthood makes FGF2 an attractive candidate for regulating the putative structural changes that underlie the formation of long-term memory. We describe below evidence for this suggestion from research that has investigated FGF2 using neural, molecular, and behavioral levels of analysis.

## NEURAL EVIDENCE FOR A ROLE FOR FGF2 IN FEAR MEMORIES

## Overview of the neural circuitry involved in fear acquisition and extinction

Several neural structures have been implicated in fear acquisition. The main structure involved in all types of fear learning is the amygdala (LeDoux, 2007). Cued fear conditioning involves associating the sensory representation of the CS with that of the US, and the amvodala is widely accepted as the main neural structure where this information converges. Evidence for the role of the basolateral complex of the amygdala (BLA) in associating the CS and US comes from lesion studies, inactivation studies, and drug antagonist studies, which together have demonstrated that interfering with normal functioning of the BLA disrupts fear conditioning across different CS modalities (Campeau and Davis, 1995), without affecting shock sensitivity (Sananes and Davis, 1992) or the ability to associate a neutral cue with an appetitive stimulus (i.e., the deficit appears to be specific to fear learning, rather than a broader disruption of all associative learning: Cahill and McGaugh, 1990). More recent evidence also supports a role for the central nucleus of the amygdala (CeA) in fear conditioning, as functional inactivation of the CeA (Wilensky et al., 2006) or the lateral subdivision of the CeA (Ciocchi et al., 2010) prior to training disrupts fear conditionina.

The BLA is also involved in contextual fear conditioning, as lesions of the BLA (Goosens and Maren, 2001), inactivation of the BLA (Helmstetter and Bellgowan, 1994), and intra-amygdala infusion of an excitatory amino acid receptor inhibitor (Fanselow and Kim, 1994) all impair this type of conditioning. It is assumed that, like with cued fear conditioning, the representations of the context and the US converge within the BLA. However, it has also been hypothesized that the contextual representation becomes configured in a different neural structure prior to being projected to the amygdala. Several studies have implicated the hippocampus as the structure in which the various elements of the context become combined. For example, using a within-subjects design, Anagnostaras et al. (1999) demonstrated that rats given dorsal hippocampal lesions following fear conditioning exhibited robust fear towards a discrete cue (i.e., a tone) that had been paired with shock, but exhibited impaired memory (i.e., reduced fear) for the context in which tone conditioning took place. This suggests that the hippocampus regulates conditioning about diffuse, but not discrete, cues. Developmental studies have also contributed to the view that the hippocampus

is important in contextual fear conditioning. In the rat, the hippocampus undergoes a protracted period of development in comparison to other brain structures, with substantial development occurring between the ages of postnatal day (PND) 16 and PND 23, by which time the hippocampus is generally considered to be functional, at least for contextual fear conditioning (Dumas and Rudy, 2010). Therefore, if the hippocampus is important for contextual fear conditioning, then rats younger than PND 23 should be impaired in contextual learning. Several studies by Rudy (Pugh and Rudy, 1996; Rudy, 1993; Rudy and Morledge, 1994) have confirmed that contextual fear conditioning is impaired prior to ~PND 23. Furthermore, these studies have demonstrated that the impairment in contextual fear conditioning in rats younger than PND 23 is not due to impairment in long-term memory formation per se, as young (e.g., PND 18) rats exhibit long-term memory for discrete cued fear conditioning.

The amygdala and hippocampus, along with the infralimbic region of the prefrontal cortex (IL), have also been implicated in extinction of conditioned fear. Specifically, it is thought that when an extinguished cue is presented in the extinction context the hippocampus activates the IL, which then activates inhibitory interneurons in the BLA which inhibit the output neurons in the CeA, thus preventing conditioned responding. When the CS is presented outside of the extinction context, the hippocampus does not activate the IL and so conditioned responding occurs because the amygdala is not inhibited (see Quirk and Mueller, 2008, for an excellent review of the neural circuitry mediating extinction).

# FGF2 and the neural circuitry of fear acquisition and extinction

There is evidence that modulation of FGF2 leads to morphological and functional changes in the neural circuitry underlying the acquisition and extinction of conditioned fear, in particular, the hippocampus. For example, in addition to promoting the proliferation and survival of cultured fetal and postnatal hippocampal cells, FGF2 increases neurite elongation in cultured cells (Walicke et al., 1986). FGF2 is also required for the differentiation of hippocampal stem cells, as it has been demonstrated that application of FGF2 to stem cells dissociated from embryonic rats facilitated the development of these cells into neurons (Vicario-Abejon et al., 1995). Furthermore, application of FGF2 to dissociated rat embryonic hippocampal cell cultures was shown to promote the bifurcation and growth of axonal branches (Aoyagi et al., 1994). Finally, chronic application of FGF2 has been shown to increase the expression of L-type voltage gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (LVGCCs) in rat embryonic hippocampal cultures, leading to larger Ca<sup>2+</sup> increases in response to potassium-induced depolarization (Shitaka et al., 1996). An increasing body of research has demonstrated that LVGCCs may be important to memory (e.g., Bauer et al., 2002; Weisskpof et al., 1999). Together, these studies indicate that FGF2 plays a role in determining the structure of the hippocampus by regulating cell

proliferation and morphology, as well as by increasing synaptic efficiency.

Perhaps the most compelling evidence that FGF2 modulates hippocampal morphology comes from Cheng et al. (2002), who examined the long-term neural effects of early-life exposure to FGF2 in vivo. They demonstrated that rats receiving a single s.c. injection of FGF2 on PND 1 exhibited increased cell proliferation in the hippocampus, resulting in a larger hippocampal volume from PND 4 throughout adulthood (PND 180 was the oldest age tested). Conversely, transgenic mice that lack Fgfr1 (the primary receptor for FGF2) show decreased cell proliferation in the hippocampus, which results in permanent atrophy of the hippocampus. The latter finding was replicated by Ohkubo et al. (2004). Such research is noteworthy because it demonstrates that modulating early-life exposure to FGF2 has a long-lasting effect on the morphology of the hippocampus. It is unclear whether early-life FGF2 has such an effect on the morphology of neural structures other than the hippocampus, although Cheng et al. (2001) showed that a single s.c. injection of FGF2 on PND 1 facilitated neurogenesis in the cerebellum of rats. However, this effect only persisted until PND 35.

In comparison to the hippocampus, there is little research regarding the effect of FGF2 on other structures involved in fear learning (i.e., amygdala and PFC). However, recent evidence suggests that FGF2 is involved in the development of the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) and its projections to the limbic system. Stevens et al. (2010) demonstrated that embryonic inactivation of Fgfr2, or combined inactivation of Fgfr1 and Fgfr2, led to a reduction in excitatory cortical neurons in the mPFC and reduced mPFC volume in mice during adulthood. Fgfr2 transgenic mice also had fewer glutamate synaptic terminals and decreased GABAergic neurons in the bed nuclei of the stria terminalis (BNST). The BNST is part of the limbic system (often considered part of the wider amygdaloid complex) that receives projections from the mPFC and has been implicated in the anxiety response (Walker et al., 2003). The findings reported by Stevens et al. (2010) suggest that FGF2 (along with other FGF ligands that bind to Fgfr1 and Fgfr2) is critically involved in the development of the mPFC, and that this has implications for the development of the BNST. We are unaware of any studies that have directly examined the consequences of FGF2 activity on amygdala morphology and/or function so this would be a promising avenue for future research.

Finally, there is some evidence that FGF2 receptors are present in high concentrations in the neural circuitry mediating fear acquisition and extinction. Gonzalez et al. (1995) conducted a comprehensive analysis of FGF2 and *Fgfr1* protein and mRNA expression, and reported that there is a widespread distribution of both throughout the adult rat brain. They noted that selected populations of neurons, including those in the CA2 field of the hippocampus and in the amygdala (and particularly the CeA), have very concentrated expression of FGF2 and *Fgfr1* protein and mRNA. FGF2 and *Fgfr1* protein and mRNA are also found in abundance in neurons and astrocytes in the hu-

man hippocampus (Ferrer and Marti, 1998; Weickert et al., 2005), and FGF2 immunopositive neurons have been found in the human frontal cortex (Cordon-Cardo et al., 1990), and more specifically, in the dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate regions (Evans et al., 2004). This suggests that FGF2 may modulate the functioning of neural structures that underlie fear acquisition and extinction; however, it should be noted that as *Fgfr1* serves as the receptor for other ligands of FGF, it is also possible that ligands other than FGF2 modulate activity in these regions.

## Molecular evidence of a role for FGF2 in fear memories

It is widely accepted that the formation of long-term memory for associative learning in the mammalian brain requires long-term potentiation (LTP), an activity-dependent increase in synaptic plasticity (Bliss and Lømo, 1973). LTP, and the formation of long-term memories, requires the activation of a complex molecular signaling process. Briefly, the excitatory amino acid glutamate binds to Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, which, following sufficient depolarization, open to allow calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) influx into the cell. The  $Ca^{2+}$  influx, together with diaglycerol, leads to activation of calcium/phospholid-dependent protein kinase (PKC) which serves to phosphorylate NMDA receptors, thereby maintaining a steady influx of Ca<sup>2+</sup> to the cell. The opening of the NMDA receptor channels and the resultant influx of Ca2+ also activate the adenylyl cyclase pathway, which involves the activation of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and cyclic adenosine monophosphate-dependent protein kinase (PKA). This causes mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) to phosphorylate and translocate to the cell nucleus, and the phosphorylation of MAPK, together with activation of the adenylyl cyclase pathway, cause cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) to become phosphorylated. CREB then activates downstream targets which purportedly lead to gene transcription, as well as functional and morphological changes (reviewed in Kandel, 2001). It should be noted that there are other, non-NMDA-dependent routes to LTP; however, many of the molecules involved in these other routes overlap with those described above. If FGF2 is involved in long-term memory, then it must interact with the molecules involved in this process. Indeed, several lines of evidence demonstrate that FGF2 modulates and/or is modulated by several of the molecules known to be involved in LTP and memory.

#### FGF2 and glutamate

The first demonstration that FGF2 may be involved in glutamate-mediated synaptic plasticity came from demonstrations that FGF2 changes glutamate receptor protein levels. Specifically, chronic application of FGF2 (over 18-48 h) to cultured embryonic hippocampal rat neurons increased AMPA receptor subunit GluR1 protein. FGF2treated cells also exhibited greater increases in Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels following AMPA receptor activation (Cheng et al., 1995). AMPA receptors are glutamate receptors that have been shown to be involved in the induction and maintenance of LTP (Collingridge et al., 1983; Davies et al., 1989). It was later demonstrated that chronic FGF2 application (over 24-48 h) to cultured embryonic hippocampal rat neurons led to greater inactivation of NMDA receptors following excessive Ca<sup>2+</sup> release caused by administration of an NMDA agonist (Boxer et al., 1999). This suggests that one mechanism by which FGF2 might regulate cell survival is by exerting inhibitory control over the NMDA receptor to prevent excitotoxicity.

The first demonstration that acute FGF2 could increase glutamate release came from Numakawa et al. (2002), who found that FGF2 application to cultured rat neonatal cerebral cortex neurons led to increases in glutamate release that were maintained for one-two min. This study also demonstrated that FGF2 influenced glutamate release, and subsequent synaptic plasticity, via well-known mechanisms involved in LTP, specifically, Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and MAPK phosphorylation.

## FGF2 and Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx

Early reports that FGF2 may be involved in Ca<sup>2+</sup>-mediated synaptic transmission demonstrated that FGF2 increases Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization *in vitro* in Swiss 3T3 cells (Kaibuchi et al., 1986; Tsuda et al., 1985). Later studies also implicated FGF2 in the transmission of Ca<sup>2+</sup> via LVGCCs. For example, in addition to demonstrating that FGF2 increases glutamate release, Numakawa et al. (2002) demonstrated that this effect was blocked by nifedipine, an LVGCC blocker. This suggests that FGF2-induced increases in glutamate release are dependent, at least in part, on Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx through LVGCCs. However, not all of the effects of FGF2 on glutamate are mediated through LVGCCs, as Boxer et al. (1999) found that nifedipine had no effect on the potentiation of NMDA receptor inactivation by FGF2 (see above).

### FGF2 and PKC

Several studies have demonstrated that application of FGF2 to cultured embryonic Swiss 3T3 cells activates PKC (Kaibuchi et al., 1986; Nanberg et al., 1990; Tsuda et al., 1985). Additionally, activation of the PKC pathway in adult human astrocytes produced increases in FGF2 mRNA and protein levels (Moffett et al., 1998).

#### FGF2 and cAMP

Activation of the cAMP pathway by administration of forskolin in adult human astrocytes produced increases in FGF2 mRNA and protein levels (Moffett et al., 1998). Furthermore, FGF2 has been shown to augment increases in cAMP accumulation induced by administration of forskolin (which increases PKC) in Swiss 3T3 cells (Nanberg et al., 1990), an effect that was attenuated via downregulation of PKC. This suggests that FGF2 might activate cAMP via recruiting PKC.

### FGF2 and MAPK

Numakawa et al. (2002) demonstrated that the FGF2induced increase in glutamate was not only dependent on Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, but also on MAPK phosphorylation. They first demonstrated that FGF2 application to cerebral cortex neuron cultures resulted in increased phosphorylation of MAPK, and then demonstrated that inhibition of MAPK via MAPK kinase (MEK) inhibitors blocked the FGF2-induced increase in glutamate release. This suggests that FGF2 recruits MAPK to enhance synaptic transmission.

The neurotrophic effects of FGF2 also appear to be mediated through increases in MAPK. Abe and Saito (2000) and Abe et al. (2001) demonstrated that in vitro application of FGF2 to 18-day-old rat embryonic hippocampal and cerebral cortex neurons induced phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) 1 and 2. The FGF2-induced phosphorylation of ERK1/2 was blocked by MEK inhibitors U0126 and PD98059, suggesting that the increase in phosphorylated ERK1/2 was due to FGF2 increasing levels of phosphorylated MEK. Abe and Saito (2000) also demonstrated that FGF2-induced prolonged survival of these cell cultures was blocked by the MEK inhibitors U0126 and PD98059, both of which had no effect on cell survival when administered without FGF2. Abe et al. (2001) then demonstrated that FGF2-induced increases in neuritic complexity (indexed by increased axonal branching) was prevented by MEK inhibitors U0126 and PD98059, both of which had no effect on neurite morphology when administered without FGF2. Furthermore, when U0126 was added 24 h after FGF2 was applied to the cultures, phosphorylated ERK 1/2 decreased to basal levels and the promotion of axonal branching terminated. Together, these studies suggest that FGF2 recruits sustained MEK signaling to regulate cell survival and neurite morphology.

### FGF2 and CREB

One of the first demonstrations that FGF2 activates CREB came from Sung et al. (2001), who demonstrated that FGF2 increases phosphorylation of CREB and CRE-mediated gene transcription to regulate neuronal differentiation and outgrowth in hippocampal cell cultures. They further demonstrated that FGF2-induced neuronal outgrowth was blocked in cells that contained a dominant negative CREB construct (effectively blocking CREB activation). Intriguingly, their findings suggested that FGF2 does not phosphorylate CREB using pathways known to be involved in CREB activation, as pre-treatment with inhibitors of MAPK, PKA, and PKC did not prevent FGF2-induced CREB phosphorylation. This suggests that FGF2 activates CREB through its own distinct pathway, at least in the hippocampus.

This study was later followed by a demonstration that FGF2 regulates cell proliferation in the adult hippocampus in rats via phosphorylation of CREB (Peltier et al., 2007). Similar to Sung et al. (2001), Peltier et al. (2007) showed that FGF2-induced cell proliferation *in vitro* was completely blocked by a CREB inhibitor. They also demonstrated that cell proliferation was markedly increased in cell cultures that over-expressed CREB, but only if FGF2 was applied to these cultures. CREB over-expression did not increase cell proliferation by itself, suggesting that FGF2 recruits

CREB to increase cell proliferation in the adult nervous system. Finally, Peltier et al. (2007) also demonstrated that FGF2-induced cell proliferation was not blocked by inhibitors of MAPK. Therefore, consistent with Sung et al. (2001), these results suggest that FGF2 recruits CREB via pathways distinct from those involving MAPK. However, more recent work has demonstrated that the findings that FGF2 can phosphorylate CREB independent of MAPK activity may be region specific, as FGF2-induced phosphorylation of CREB was blocked when MAPK inhibitors were applied to cerebellar granule neurons (Ditlevsen et al., 2008).

### FGF2 and long-term-potentiation

Perhaps the most compelling evidence that FGF2 is involved in regulating synaptic plasticity comes from several studies showing that FGF2 augments LTP. This has been demonstrated in vitro in rat hippocampal slices perfused with FGF2 (Terlau and Seifert, 1990). FGF2 produced no change in evoked responses if single pulse or paired pulse stimulation was applied to the slice, and did not change the resting membrane potential. However, it did increase the magnitude of potentiation following tetanic stimulation of the slice. Additionally, FGF2 has been shown to enhance LTP in vivo. Specifically, i.c.v. injections of FGF2 in anaesthetized rats led to augmented LTP when sub-threshold tetanic stimulation was applied to the dentate gyrus; however, it did not facilitate LTP when sufficient tetanic stimulation was administered to produce complete LTP (i.e., it could not further augment LTP when the synapses were fully strengthened by the above-threshold tetanic stimulation, Ishiyama et al., 1991). Finally, i.c.v. injections of FGF2 have been shown to rescue the deficits in LTP seen in fimbria-fornix-lesioned rats, animals that require greater levels of tetanic stimulation in order to induce LTP (Abe et al., 1992). Together, these studies indicate that FGF2 may not only regulate induction and maintenance of synaptic plasticity, but also that exogenous FGF2 may enhance LTP under conditions in which normal LTP is impaired.

As already noted, LTP is widely accepted to be the mechanism by which long-term memory is acquired, and therefore the finding that LTP is facilitated by FGF2 provides compelling evidence that FGF2 may be critically involved in long-term memory. Given the research outlined above demonstrating that FGF2 appears to modulate glutamate release, Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, PKC, MAPK, cAMP, and CREB, it is likely that FGF2 facilitates LTP via these same signals.

#### FGF2 and neurogenesis

As already mentioned, one of the well-known functions of FGF2 is to regulate adult neurogenesis. There is mixed evidence for the role of neurogenesis in learning and memory. For example, increasing neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus via exercise led to a facilitation of LTP and spatial learning in mice (Van praag et al., 1999). Furthermore, inhibiting neurogenesis impaired trace eyeblink conditioning (a hippocampus-dependent learning task in which the animal must learn to associate two stimuli that are pre-

sented separately in time), while sparing delayed eyeblink conditioning (not mediated by the hippocampus, in which an animal associates two stimuli presented overlapping in time) in rats (Shors et al., 2001). From this work, it appeared that neurogenesis was necessary for hippocampus-mediated learning and memory. However, Shors et al. (2002) later demonstrated that inhibiting neurogenesis did not always impair other types of hippocampal memory, including (in contrast to Van praag et al., 1999) spatial learning and contextual fear conditioning. Shors et al. (2002) maintained that hippocampal neurogenesis is important for some, but not all, hippocampus-mediated tasks, but others (Kempermann et al., 2004) have pointed out that the time scale of all of these studies is problematic, because the time it takes for new neurons to mature and integrate into the neuronal network makes it more plausible that the effects of disrupted neurogenesis would appear weeks after the disruption, rather than immediately after neurogenesis was inhibited. In any case, while adulthood neurogenesis appears to be involved in at least some types of hippocampus-mediated learning, the nature of its role is poorly understood at this stage.

#### FGF2 and the molecular biology of fear extinction

There is considerable evidence that many of the same molecules involved in fear acquisition are also involved in fear extinction. For example, NMDA receptor antagonists impair extinction (Falls et al., 1992; Lin et al., 2003), while D-cycloserine (DCS), a partial agonist of the NMDA receptor, enhances extinction (Ledgerwood et al., 2003; Walker et al., 2002). Furthermore, inhibitors of MAPK infused into the BLA block extinction (Lin et al., 2003), and other studies have shown that phosphorylated MAPK increases in the BLA following extinction (Cannich et al., 2004; Yang and Lu, 2005). Finally, Cain et al. (2002) demonstrated that systemic administration of the LVGCC blockers nifedipine and nimodipine prior to extinction training impaired withinsession and long-term extinction of fear for an auditory CS and context in mice. As mentioned previously, FGF2 regulates glutamate-mediated synaptic plasticity (Numakawa et al., 2002), MAPK phosphorylation (Abe and Saito, 2000), and LVGCC expression and activation (Numakawa et al., 2002; Shitaka et al., 1996). As such, it is possible that FGF2 may also be involved in the formation and/or consolidation of extinction memories.

There is evidence that glucocorticoids are important in the formation of extinction memories. The first demonstration of this came from Barrett and Gonzalez-Lima (2004) who reported that systemic metyrapone (a corticosterone inhibitor) impaired long-term extinction of an auditory CS in mice when administered 90 min prior to extinction training, while having no effect on within-session extinction. These results have since been replicated using intra-amygdala infusions of the glucocorticoid antagonist mifepristone (Yang et al., 2006), suggesting that glucocorticoid activity in the amygdala is necessary for long-term extinction. Adrenal hormones (such as corticosterone) exert control over FGF2 activity (Molteni et al., 2001), and therefore it is possible that glucocorticoids increase FGF2 activity in order to modulate extinction. Other research has demonstrated that adrenal hormones regulate FGF2 expression in the neural circuitry underlying extinction. For example, adrenalectomy in adult rats reduced FGF2 expression in the hippocampus and PFC (Riva et al., 1995a), and systemic administration of dexamethasone (a synthetic glucocorticoid) increased FGF2 mRNA expression in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex in adult rats (Riva et al., 1995b). These studies did not examine the behavioral consequences of altering FGF2 expression; however, it is possible that such manipulations of FGF2 in the neural circuitry of extinction would modulate the formation of extinction memories.

The research described above provides just four examples of molecular signals that have been implicated in extinction that have also been shown to interact with FGF2. It should be noted that there are many other molecular signals that are thought to be involved in fear extinction (for an excellent review see Myers and Davis, 2007), and several of these have been shown to be regulated by FGF2, including GABA (Antonopoloulos et al., 1997), dopamine (Fumagalli et al., 2003), acetylcholine (Belluardo et al., 1999), opioids (Ward et al., 2007), and cannabinoids (Williams et al., 2003). Hence, there is considerable evidence that FGF2 interacts with the molecular signals that underlie extinction learning.

#### Interim summary

The evidence reviewed above identifies two possible roles for FGF2 in memory formation. Firstly, alteration of FGF2 signaling/expression can have long-lasting "constitutive" effects which may result in a "permissive" change in memory formation. For example, an increase in FGF2 signaling has been shown to increase cell proliferation, promote dendrite formation, and enhance synaptic efficiency, all of which produce conditions that are optimal for memory formation. In this case, an enhancement in memory formation may be seen some time after the modulation of FGF2 signalling occurs. Secondly, alteration of FGF2 signaling also has acute, phasic effects, including enhancing the molecular steps in the cascade of memory (e.g., glutamate, Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, PKC, cAMP, MAPK, CREB). In this case, the alteration in FGF2 signaling must occur at the time of learning in order to detect an enhancement in memory. See Fig. 1 for a summary of FGF2's effects on neuronal functioning. Below, we review behavioral evidence that exogenous FGF2 can modulate fear memories. Where possible, we indicate whether the effects of exogenous FGF2 are likely due to permissive or phasic effects.

## BEHAVIORAL EVIDENCE FOR A ROLE FOR FGF2 IN FEAR MEMORIES

#### FGF2 and anxiety

Despite the breadth of research examining the *physiolog-ical* consequences of endogenous and exogenous FGF2, few studies have examined the *behavioral* consequences of FGF2. However, one study has implicated FGF2 in the modulation of anxious behavior. Perez et al. (2009) bred



Fig. 1. Summary of the known effects of FGF2 on neural functioning.

rats that exhibited either high or low trait levels of anxiety (as measured by responses to novelty and anxiety-provoking situations), and found that highly anxious rats had lower levels of hippocampal FGF2 mRNA expression compared to low-anxious rats. They also demonstrated that placement in an enriched environment reduced anxious behavior in highly anxious rats and led to an increase of FGF2 expression in the hippocampus. Finally, they demonstrated that three weeks of treatment with exogenous FGF2 increased neurogenesis and reduced anxious behavior, an effect that was particularly pronounced in the highly anxious rats. Perez et al.'s (2009) study is noteworthy because not only does it implicate FGF2 as a modulator of state anxiety, but it also suggests that FGF2 may be a novel anxiolytic agent.

#### FGF2 and fear acquisition

More recent work has suggested that in addition to modulating state anxiety, systemic FGF2 can modulate the formation of fear memories. In one study, Graham and Richardson (2010a) investigated the functional implications of Cheng et al.'s (2002) finding that early-life administration of FGF2 leads to permanent structural changes in the hippocampus. They demonstrated that chronic systemic injections of FGF2 on postnatal day (PND) 1-5 led to an early emergence of contextual fear conditioning in PND 16 rats (animals this age normally show poor retention of this type of learning), and further, enhanced contextual fear conditioning in rats at an age at which they normally exhibit some learning of this type (i.e., PND 23). Graham and Richardson's (2010a) study provides support for the hypothesis that FGF2 is involved in, and can modulate, the development of the memory system. On the basis of a large body of work examining the physiological consequences of early-life FGF2, they proposed that the behavioral and cognitive consequences of early-life FGF2 were due in part to FGF2 causing long-lasting changes in the morphology and function of the hippocampus. Thus, earlylife FGF2 most likely had a permissive effect on memory formation later in life.

It was outlined previously that, in addition to causing long-term morphological neural changes, acute FGF2 also causes transient increases in many of the molecular signals known to be involved in learning and memory. As such, Graham and Richardson (2009a) investigated whether acute FGF2, administered at the time of learning, would enhance the acquisition of fear memories. They found that when FGF2 was systemically administered 15 min prior to training, it enhanced long-term memory for contextual fear conditioning in PND 16, 19, and 22 rats. This study provided support for the hypothesis that FGF2 is involved in the regulation of long-term memory formation, as it demonstrated that an acute increase in the levels of FGF2 facilitates contextual fear conditioning memory in rats across a variety of ages. Furthermore, these results were most likely due to a phasic effect on memory as acute FGF2 transiently increases the molecular cascade of memory, and any potential effects of acute FGF2 on cell proliferation and brain morphology would take time to develop. As FGF2 was administered prior to training, it is unclear whether FGF2 was modulating the acquisition or consolidation of fear conditioning. However, in both studies it was found that FGF2 (whether administered early in life or acutely at the time of learning) only facilitated contextual fear conditioning in PND 16 rats under conditions where they exhibited some basal level of long-term memory (i.e., in PND 16 rats that received more than one training trial during conditioning). FGF2 did not facilitate contextual conditioning in PND 16 rats that only received one training trial and subsequently exhibited negligible long-term memory. This latter finding suggests that FGF2 may be more involved in memory consolidation than acquisition.

#### FGF2 and fear extinction

The effect of systemically administered FGF2 on extinction of conditioned fear has also been examined. While chronic systemic early-life FGF2 had no effect on cued fear conditioning or extinction later in life, it did lead to precocious emergence of "adult-like" extinction in PND 16 rats (Graham and Richardson, 2010a). After ~PND 23, extinction is context-dependent in that an animal will only express low levels of fear if the extinguished CS is presented in the same context in which extinction training occurred. If the extinguished CS is presented in the original fear conditioning context, or in a completely novel context, the animal will express recovered levels of fear, a phenomenon termed "renewal" (Bouton and Bolles, 1979a). Recent research has shown that extinction is fundamentally different in rodents younger than PND 23 (Gogolla et al., 2009; Kim and Richardson, 2010). As just one example, PND 16 rats do not show renewal- they express low levels of CSelicited fear regardless of the context in which they are tested (Kim and Richardson, 2007: Yap and Richardson, 2007). One explanation for this finding is that the hippocampus has not fully developed by PND 16 and cannot support the formation of a representation of the extinction context, and so for PND 16 rats extinction is contextindependent. However, Graham and Richardson (2010a) demonstrated that PND 16 rats exhibited a precocious emergence of context-dependent extinction if they had been systemically administered FGF2 early in life. This finding is most likely due to the permissive effects of early-life FGF2 on the development of the neural circuitry mediating both fear acquisition and fear extinction.

Several recent studies have also examined the effect of acute FGF2 (i.e., its phasic effects) when it is administered at the time of extinction training in PND 23 rats (that exhibit adult-like extinction). It was found that systemic administration of acute FGF2 8 min prior to extinction training enhanced retention; that is, these rats exhibited stronger extinction memories (less fear) at test the following day (Graham and Richardson, 2009b). Interestingly, when FGF2 was administered prior to extinction training it also significantly suppressed freezing during extinction training, from the first trial of extinction. This is consistent with the finding that FGF2 may be a novel anxiolytic (Perez et al., 2009). However, FGF2 does not need to be present during extinction training to enhance extinction retention, and its effects on extinction are not due to nonspecific effects on state levels of anxiety or freezing behavior, because FGF2 enhanced extinction retention when administered immediately after, but not 4 h after, extinction training. Furthermore, when rats were given insufficient training to induce short-term extinction, FGF2 was ineffective in enhancing extinction, suggesting that FGF2 enhances the processes underlying extinction (i.e., perhaps by enhancing extinction consolidation), rather than initiating them.

The mechanisms by which FGF2 enhances extinction have also been examined. It is widely accepted that extinction, at least in rats older than PND 23, involves the formation of a context-dependent new memory that competes with the original (still intact) fear memory. This is because fear often returns after extinction when the CS is presented in a different context to that of extinction (renewal, as discussed earlier; Bouton and Bolles, 1979a), when the animal is exposed to a mild, unsignalled stressor (reinstatement, or stress-precipitated relapse; Bouton and Bolles, 1979b), or with the mere passage of time (spontaneous recovery; Quirk, 2002). If FGF2 is enhancing the formation of a context-dependent extinction memory then FGF2-treated rats should show recovery of fear under the conditions noted above. However, Graham and Richardson (2009b, 2010b) found that systemic administration of FGF2 led to significantly attenuated reinstatement and renewal, even when vehicle-treated rats were given double the amount of extinction training to equate the strength of extinction between FGF2-treated and control rats. This suggests that FGF2 may change the quality of extinction, possibly by weakening the original fear memory. Graham and Richardson (2011) examined this possibility behaviorally by exploiting recent findings regarding the molecular substrates underlying re-extinction, which refers to the process of relearning extinction following reacquisition of fear to an extinguished cue. Converging evidence strongly suggests that initial extinction and re-extinction do not depend on the same neural or molecular mechanisms. For

example, unlike initial extinction, re-extinction is not impaired by NMDA receptor (NMDAr) antagonists MK801 or DL-APV (Chan and McNally, 2009; Langton and Richardson, 2009, 2010; Laurent et al., 2008). These experiments suggest that relearning to inhibit fear does not depend on NMDAr activity. However, Graham and Richardson (2011) found that when rats were systemically injected with FGF2 immediately after extinction training, then re-trained to fear the extinguished CS, and then re-extinguished following injection with MK801, FGF2-treated rats exhibited impaired re-extinction retention. In contrast, rats that were extinguished with vehicle and then re-extinguished with MK801 did not exhibit any impairment in re-extinction retention. In other words, during re-extinction FGF2-treated rats "behaved" as if the CS was being extinguished for the first time. This effect of FGF2 was not observed when it was injected 4 h after extinction training, suggesting that the results obtained in the first experiment were due to the effects of FGF2 on extinction, rather than some nonspecific effect of prior exposure to both FGF2 and MK801. Finally, when MK801 was administered prior to reacquisition of a CS that had been extinguished followed by FGF2 or vehicle administration, reacquisition was impaired in FGF2-treated but not vehicle-treated rats. That is, FGF2treated rats "behaved" as if they were learning the association between the CS and US for the first time. Together, these experiments suggest that FGF2 may fundamentally alter the quality of extinction, possibly by partially erasing the original fear memory. See Table 1 for a summary of FGF2's effects on fear acquisition and fear extinction.

# Evidence that endogenous FGF2 regulates memory formation

The studies described above show that exogenous FGF2 is capable of modulating fear acquisition and fear extinction, suggesting that endogenous FGF2 may normally play a role in regulating fear memories. This regulatory role could be a consequence of either tonic secretion of endogenous FGF2 leading to conditions that are optimal for memory formation (e.g., increased neurogenesis, etc.; a permissive effect) or phasic secretions of FGF2 at the time of a learning experience affecting the molecular cascade underlying memory. However, it is also possible that the enhanced memory following FGF2 administration was sim-

ply a by-product of the physiological effects of FGF2. That is, it is known that in order to regulate other, non-memory related functions in the central nervous system (i.e., protection from stress, regeneration following injury), FGF2 recruits the same molecular cascades that are involved in memory. It is possible that the observed enhancement in memory is due to the effect of exogenous FGF2 on these signals, but that endogenous FGF2 is not normally involved in the regulation of memory per se. If it is the case that FGF2 activation is not necessary for long-term memory, then preventing FGF2 activation should not impair memory formation. Unfortunately, as a specific antagonist of FGF2 does not currently exist, this possibility cannot be tested. Another difficulty is that most of the data on the physiological effects of FGF2 comes from in vitro research, and few studies have examined the effects of FGF2 in vivo in behaving rats. As such, it is not clear whether FGF2 activity increases in response to learning, which would provide more compelling evidence for a potential role of endogenous FGF2 in memory.

In light of these limitations, it is reasonable to ask if there is any evidence that endogenous FGF2 is necessary for fear learning and memory. It was noted earlier that endogenous FGF2 activity and mRNA increase following stressful events (Bland et al., 2006, 2007). Furthermore, exogenous FGF2 has been shown to decrease anxious behavior (Perez et al., 2009), suggesting that one role of endogenous FGF2 may be to regulate state anxiety. Therefore it is likely that FGF2 becomes activated during fear learning (via synthesis of adrenal hormones), and may regulate the storage of such experiences via its effects on subsequent intracellular signaling cascades. The fact that FGF2 becomes activated in response to stress provides a possible mechanism by which endogenous FGF2 may modulate fear memories.

Further suggestive evidence that endogenous FGF2 may be necessary for memory is that other manipulations that improve memory also increase endogenous FGF2, suggesting that increases in FGF2 activity may be the underlying mechanism of action for memory enhancement. For example, it has been demonstrated that physical exercise enhances spatial memory (Fordyce and Farrar, 1991; Van praag et al., 1999) and memory for one-trial passive avoidance (Samorajski et al., 1985) in rats of a

Table 1. Summary of FGF2 effects on fear conditioning and extinction

Mode/timing of administration	Age trained	Effect on memory
Systemic injections from PND 1–5	PND 16 or PND 23	Enhanced memory for contextual conditioning in both ages
Systemic injections from PND 1-5	PND 16	No effect on cued conditioning recall; extinction acquisition; extinction recall; caused early emergence of renewal
Acute systemic injection 15 min prior to contextual conditioning	PND 16, 19, or 22	Enhanced memory for contextual conditioning in all ages
Acute systemic injection 8 min prior to extinction training	PND 23	Suppressed freezing throughout extinction acquisition; enhanced extinction recall
Acute systemic injection immediately after extinction training	PND 23	Enhanced extinction recall; reduced reinstatement; reduced renewal; prevented the switch from NMDA-dependent to NMDA-independent reacquisition of conditioned fear and re-extinction of fear
Acute systemic injection 4 h after extinction training	PND 23	No effect on extinction recall; did not prevent the switch from NMDA-dependent to NMDA-independent re-extinction of fear

variety of ages (including adult and aged). It is also widely recognized that increased physical activity is associated with better cognitive performance in aged humans (reviewed in Churchill et al., 2002). It is known that exercise leads to many neural changes that are regulated by FGF2, including increased neurogenesis and astrocyte reactivity, suggesting that exercise may increase endogenous FGF2. This idea is supported by Gomez-Pinilla et al. (1997), who demonstrated that voluntary wheel running in adult rats increased FGF2 mRNA in the hippocampus by the fourth night of running, suggesting that the beneficial effects of exercise on memory may be mediated partly by increases in FGF2 activity.

Another manipulation that has been shown to improve memory is administration of antidepressant medication. For example, there is evidence that some types of antidepressants (e.g., imipramine) improve memory in depressed and healthy humans as measured by standardized tests of memory (reviewed in Thompson, 1991). Additionally, it has been shown that chronic administration of the antidepressant tianeptine ameliorates spatial memory impairments in rats exposed to repeated restraint stress (Luine et al., 1994). It has been reported that chronic stress leads to dysregulation in FGF2 activity (Bland et al., 2006, 2007) which may have mediated the memory impairments reported by Luine et al. (1994). Furthermore, chronic antidepressant treatment up-regulates FGF2 activity (Mallei et al., 2002), suggesting that antidepressants may improve memory in humans and rodents by increasing endogenous FGF2. Together, research investigating the effect of exercise and antidepressants on memory and FGF2 activity provides independent evidence that endogenous FGF2 may be involved in the modulation of memory. Importantly, as exercise and antidepressants have been shown to enhance fearful memories as well as non-fear related memories (e.g., spatial learning), this suggests that endogenous FGF2 may be important in the regulation of memory in general, rather than just fear memories. However, it should be stressed that the above data are correlative, and that in order to definitively claim that FGF2 is necessary for memory it must be demonstrated that memory is impaired when FGF2 activity is blocked (see Future directions).

## PRACTICAL APPLICATIONS

The research reviewed above on the role of FGF2 in memory is theoretically interesting because it provides insight into the signals that regulate the development of the adult-like memory system, as well as the signals that might regulate the persistence of long-term memories. However, an understanding of the mechanisms by which FGF2 modulates memory also has practical implications. With an aging population, the incidence of neurodegenerative disorders like dementia is increasing, and such disorders are associated with gross memory impairments. Aging is also associated with a decrease in neurotrophic factors (Rai et al., 2007), and so it is possible that a decline in FGF2 (among other neurotrophic factors) mediates the cognitive impairments seen in aging. If this is the case, then early-life exposure to FGF2 might reduce age-related declines in neurotrophic factors, and in turn, preserve memory ability. Furthermore, acute administration of FGF2 later in life may attenuate memory impairments associated with normal aging or disease processes.

In addition to possible treatments for memory impairments, research into the pharmacological enhancement of memory has also aided treatments for affective disorders, including anxiety. Therefore it is of particular clinical interest that FGF2 enhances extinction, the laboratory analogue of exposure therapy for anxiety disorders in humans, and further, reduces susceptibility to relapse. This suggests that FGF2 may be a novel pharmacological enhancer of exposure therapy in humans. While FGF2 is able to be administered to humans (it has previously been trialed in humans as a potential inducer of angiogenesis; Laham et al., 2000; Lazarous et al., 2000; Lederman et al., 2002), it has yet to be tested as a potential adjunct to exposure therapy for anxiety disorders. The studies reviewed above highlight at least two potential benefits to using FGF2 in this way. Firstly, Graham and Richardson (2009b, 2010b) demonstrated that extinction combined with FGF2 is as effective as double the amount of extinction without FGF2. As exposure therapy is time-consuming and requires extensive commitment from the patient, the finding that FGF2 produces equivalent results in half the amount of time suggests that it may improve the efficiency of exposure therapy, which may reduce treatment drop-out rates. The second benefit relates to the findings that FGF2 reduces two common types of relapse: stress-precipitated reinstatement and renewal (Graham and Richardson, 2009b, 2010b). Stress-induced relapse is a significant problem in the treatment of anxiety disorders, and renewal is a robust effect both in the laboratory and in clinical settings (e.g., Mineka et al., 1999; Mystkowski et al., 2002). Further, in a longitudinal study of the clinical course of anxiety disorders over 12 years, it was demonstrated that anxiety disorders have a largely chronic course with low recovery rates and high relapse rates (Bruce et al., 2005). This illustrates the need to target relapse rates in treatment, and thus the findings that FGF2 renders rats less susceptible to relapse may be of potential future benefit.

## SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

It has been 25 years since FGF2 was first identified as a neurotrophic factor (Morrison et al., 1986; Walicke et al., 1986). In that time an overwhelming amount of research has helped to define the physiological role of FGF2 in the functioning of the nervous system from conception through to adulthood. It is now known that FGF2 is critically involved in determining the structure of the brain during development, and further, that FGF2 regulates the neuronal response to injury and stress during adulthood. Despite this, very little is known about FGF2's role in behavior, and in particular, cognition and memory. However, while research examining the behavioral consequences of FGF2 is still in its infancy, results thus far suggest a promising role for FGF2 in the regulation of fearful memories. Furthermore, the behavioral studies described are consistent with the vast body of physiological research that has demonstrated that endogenous and exogenous FGF2 modulates the molecular cascade of long-term memory.

Clearly, more research is required to investigate the nature and extent of FGF2's role in learning and memory. For example, preclinical investigations of the effect of FGF2 on fear conditioning and extinction have only been conducted in developing rats (up to PND 23). It is possible that the reported effects of FGF2 on fear memories are dependent on testing young animals. As such, future research will need to determine whether the effects of exogenous FGF2 on learning and memory vary across the lifespan, including adult and aged animals. In addition, efforts should be made to develop ways of blocking FGF2 activity at the time of learning in order to determine whether endogenous FGF2 is necessary for memory formation. This may be achieved by developing a specific antagonist or antibody to inactivate FGF2, or using genetic knockout manipulations. Indeed, it has been demonstrated that FGFR1-knockout mice exhibit impairments in a spatial memory task, along with reductions in neurogenesis and LTP (Zhao et al., 2007). However, it is difficult to interpret findings from studies that use traditional genetic knockouts (i.e., where the mutation is present from prior to birth) due to the effects of such manipulations on neuronal development. The development of methods to activate the FGFR1 mutation selectively at the time of learning (e.g., using optogenetics) would circumvent this problem.

Another area of potential interest is to determine the relationship between FGF2 and other growth factors, such as BDNF. There appears to be great overlap in the roles of the various growth factors in the central nervous system, both physiologically and behaviorally. For example, BDNF mRNA increases in the BLA following cued fear conditioning, and furthermore, blockade of the BDNF receptor via infecting neurons in the amygdala with a lentiviral vector expressing a dominant-negative tyrosine kinase B (TrkB) receptor impaired the acquisition of cued fear conditioning, without affecting fear expression (Rattiner et al., 2004). Elevated BDNF mRNA has also been reported to occur in the BLA following extinction of conditioned fear, and disruption of BNDF signaling via a lentiviral vector expressing a dominant-negative TrKB isoform disrupted long-term retention of extinction, without impairing within-session extinction (Chhatwal et al., 2006). Very recently it has been demonstrated that intra-IL infusions of BDNF reduced expression of conditioned fear the day after infusions, and this effect occurred even in the absence of extinction training (Peters et al., 2010). While it is unclear, at this stage, how the various growth factors interact, there is evidence that FGF2 application to injured retinal ganglion cells in frogs increases BDNF and TrkB mRNA levels, an effect that was blocked by an MEK inhibitor (Soto et al., 2004). This suggests that FGF2 may increase BDNF by phosphorylating MAPK. Future investigation into the signaling relationships between the various neurotrophic factors is warranted in order to better understand their regulation of synaptic plasticity underlying long-term memory.

Finally, considerable further work is required to elucidate exactly how exogenous FGF2 enhances fear acquisition and extinction. Systemic administration of FGF2 has been shown to rapidly cross the blood brain barrier (Cuevas et al., 1996; Deguchi et al., 2000) and so it is likely that, in the behavioral experiments described previously, FGF2 enhanced fear acquisition and extinction via central effects. However, it is also possible that FGF2 enhances memory, in part, via peripheral effects (e.g., increases in blood flow). Future research that compares the effects of centrally vs. systemically administered FGF2 on fear acquisition and extinction is required to address this issue. Should similar behavioral results occur when FGF2 is centrally administered, it will need to be determined which neural structures are affected by exogenous FGF2 during fear conditioning and extinction, and what molecular and cellular changes occur as a result of combining fear acquisition or extinction with FGF2. There is a dearth of literature on the effect of FGF2 on amygdala and PFC function, especially in comparison to what is known about the effect of FGF2 on hippocampal function. However, given the behavioral evidence reviewed demonstrating that systemic FGF2 modulates amygdala- and PFC-mediated fear memories, it is highly probable that FGF2 modulates amygdala and PFC function, and future research should explicitly pursue this possibility. Such research, using tools including immunohistochemistry and electrophysiology, is required to bridge the gap between the physiological research on FGF2 and the more recent behavioral research. Further investigation into the role of neurotrophic factors in behavior and cognition that combines these levels of analysis (i.e., neural, molecular, cellular, and behavioral) will inevitably lead to new insights into the mechanisms underlying the persistence of long-term memory. Furthermore, such research may potentially lead to novel therapeutic targets in the treatment of neurodegenerative and anxiety disorders.

Acknowledgments—Preparation of this manuscript was supported by a Discovery Project grant from the Australian Research Council (DP0985554) to R.R.

### REFERENCES

- Abe K, Ishiyama J, Saito H (1992) Effects of epidermal growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor on generation of long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus of fimbria-fornix-lesioned rats. Brain Res 593:335–338.
- Abe K, Saito H (2000) Neurotrophic effect of basic fibroblast growth factor is mediated by the p42/p44 mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in cultured rat cortical neurons. Dev Brain Res 122:81–85.
- Abe K, Aoyagi A, Saito H (2001) Sustained phosphorylation of mitogen-activated protein kinase is required for basic fibroblast growth factor-mediated axonal branch formation in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. Neurochem Int 38:309–315.
- Anagnostaras SG, Maren S, Fanselow MS (1999) Temporally-graded retrograde amnesia contextual fear after hippocampal damage in rats: within subjects examination. J Neurosci 19:1106–1114.

- Anderson KJ, Dam D, Lee S, Cotman CW (1988) Basic fibroblast growth factor prevents death of lesioned cholinergic neurons *in vivo*. Nature 332:360–361.
- Antonopoloulos J, Pappas IS, Parnavelas JG (1997) Activation of the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor inhibits the proliferative effects of bFGF in cortical progenitor cells. Eur J Neurosci 9:291–298.
- Aoyagi A, Nishikawa K, Saito K, Abe K (1994) Characterization of basic fibroblast growth factor-mediated acceleration of axonal branching in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. Brain Res 661:117–126.
- Barrett D, Gonzalez-Lima F (2004) Behavioral effects of metyrapone on Pavlovian extinction. Neurosci Lett 371:91–96.
- Bauer EP, Schafe GE, LeDoux JE (2002) NMDA receptors and L-type voltage-gated calcium channels contribute to long-term potentiation and different components of fear memory formation in the lateral amygdala. J Neurosci 22:5239–5249.
- Belluardo N, Mudò G, Blum M, Cheng Q, Caniglia G, Dell'Albani P, Fuxe K (1999) The nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist +/epibatidine increases FGF-2 mRNA and protein levels in the rat brain. Mol Brain Res 74:98–110.
- Bland ST, Schmid MJ, Greenwood BN, Watkins LR, Maier SF (2006) Behavioral control of the stressor modulates stress-induced changes in neurogenesis and fibroblast growth factor-2. Neuroreport 17:593–597.
- Bland ST, Tamlyn JP, Barrientos RM, Greenwood BN, Watkins LR, Campeau S, Day HE, Maier SF (2007) Expression of fibroblast growth factor-2 and brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA in the medial prefrontal cortex and hippocampus after uncontrollable or controllable stress. Neuroscience 144:1219–1228.
- Bliss TVP, Lømo T (1973) Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. J Physiol 232:331–356.
- Bouton ME, Bolles RC (1979a) Contextual control of the extinction of conditioned fear. Learn Motiv 10:445–466.
- Bouton ME, Bolles RC (1979b) Role of conditioned contextual stimuli in reinstatement of extinguished fear. J Exp Psychol Anim Behav Process 5:368–378.
- Boxer AL, Moreno H, Rudy B, Ziff EB (1999) FGF-2 potentiates Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent inactivation of NMDA receptor currents in hippocampal neurons. J Neurophysiol 82:3367–3377.
- Bruce SE, Yonkers KA, Otto MW, Eisen JL, Weisberg RB, Pagano M, Shea MT, Keller MB (2005) Influence of psychiatric comorbidity on recovery and recurrence in generalized anxiety disorder, social phobia, and panic disorder: a 12-year prospective study. Am J Psychiatry 162:1179–1187.
- Cahill L, McGaugh JL (1990) Amygdaloid complex lesions differentially affect retention of tasks using appetitive and aversive reinforcement. Behav Neurosci 104:532–543.
- Cain CK, Blouin AM, Barad M (2002) L-type voltage-gated calcium channels are required for extinction, but not acquisition or expression, of conditioned fear in mice. J Neurosci 15:9113–9121.
- Campeau S, Davis M (1995) Involvement of the central nucleus and basolateral complex of the amygdala in fear conditioning measured with fear-potentiated startle in rats trained concurrently with auditory and visual conditioned stimuli. J Neurosci 15:2301–2311.
- Cannich A, Wotjak CT, Kamprath K, Hermann H, Lutz B, Marsicano G (2004) CB1 cannabinoid receptors modulate kinase and phosphatase activity during extinction of conditioned fear in mice. Learn Mem 11:625–632.
- Chan WY, McNally GP (2009) Conditioned stimulus familiarity determines effects of MK-801 on fear extinction. Behav Neurosci 123:303–314.
- Cheng Y, Black IB, DiCicco-Bloom E (2002) Hippocampal granule neuron production and population size are regulated by levels of bFGF. Eur J Neurosci 15:3–12.
- Cheng Y, Tao Y, Black IB, DiCicco-Bloom E (2001) A single peripheral injection of basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) stimulates granule cell production and increases cerebellar growth in newborn rats. J Neurobiol 46:220–229.

- Cheng B, Furukawa K, O'Keefe JA, Goodman Y, Kihiko M, Fabian T, Mattson MP (1995) Basic fibroblast growth factor selectively increases AMPA-receptor subunit GluR1 protein level and differentially modulates Ca<sup>2+</sup> responses to AMPA and NMDA in hippocampal neurons. J Neurochem 65:2525–2536.
- Chhatwal JP, Stanek-Rattiner L, Davis M, Ressler KJ (2006) Amygdala BDNF signaling is required for consolidation but not encoding of extinction. Nat Neurosci 9:870–872.
- Churchill JD, Galvez R, Colcombe S, Swain RA, Kramer AF, Greenough WT (2002) Exercise, experience and the aging brain. Neurobiol Aging 23:941–955.
- Ciocchi S, Herry C, Grenier F, Wolff SB, Letzkus JJ, Vlachos I, Ehrlich I, Sprengel R, Deisseroth K, Stadler MB, Müller C, Lüthi A (2010) Encoding of conditioned fear in central amygdala inhibitory circuits. Nature 468:277–284.
- Collingridge GL, Kehl SJ, McLennan H (1983) The antagonism of amino acid-induced excitations of rat hippocampal CA1 neurones in vitro. J Physiol 334:19–31.
- Cordon-Cardo C, Vlodavsky I, Haimovitz-Friedman A, Hicklin D, Fuks Z (1990) Expression of basic fibroblast growth factor in normal human tissues. Lab Invest 63:832–840.
- Cuevas P, Fernández Ayerdi A, Carceller F, Colin S, Mascarelli F, Munoz Willery I, Gimenez-Gallego G (1996) Central nervous system distribution of fibroblast growth factor injected into the blood stream. Neurol Res 18:267–272.
- Cunha C, Brambilla R, Thomas KL (2010) A simple role for BDNF in learning and memory? Front Mol Neurosci 3:1–14.
- Davies SN, Lester RA, Reymann KG, Collingridge GL (1989) Temporally distinct pre- and post-synaptic mechanisms maintain longterm potentiation. Nature 338:500–503.
- Deguchi Y, Naito T, Yuge T, Furukawa A, Yamada S, Pardridge WM, Kimura R (2000) Blood-brain barrier transport of 125I-labeled basic fibroblast growth factor. Pharm Res 17:63–69.
- Ditlevsen DK, Owczarek S, Berezin V, Bock E (2008) Relative role of upstream regulators of Akt, ERK and CREB in NCAM- and FGF2mediated signaling. Neurochem Int 53:137–147.
- Dumas TC, Rudy JW (2010) Development of the hippocampal memory system: creating networks and modifiable synapses. In: Oxford handbook of developmental behavioral neuroscience (Blumberg MS, Freeman JH, Robinson SR, eds), pp 587–606. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Evans SJ, Choundary PV, Neal CR, Li JZ, Vawter MP, Tomita H, Lopez JF, Thompson RC, Meng F, Stead JD, Walsh DM, Myers RM, Bunney WE, Watson SE, Jones EG, Akil H (2004) Dysregulation of the fibroblast growth factor system in major depression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:15506–15511.
- Falls WA, Miserendino MJ, Davis M (1992) Extinction of fear-potentiated startle: blockade by infusion of an NMDA antagonist into the amygdala. J Neurosci 12:854–863.
- Fanselow MS, Kim JJ (1994) Acquisition of contextual Pavlovian fear conditioning is blocked by application of an NMDA receptor antagonist D,L-2-amino-5-phosphonovaleric acid to the basolateral amygdala. Behav Neurosci 108:210–212.
- Ferrer I, Marti E (1998) Distribution of fibroblast growth factor receptor-1 (FGFR-1) and FGFR-3 in the hippocampus of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 240:139–142.
- Fordyce DE, Farrar RP (1991) Enhancement of spatial learning in F344 rats by physical activity and related learning-associated alterations in hippocampal and cortical cholinergic functioning. Behav Brain Res 46:123–133.
- Fumagalli F, Bedogni F, Maragnoli MA, Gennarelli M, Perez J, Racagni G, Riva MA (2003) Dopaminergic D2 receptor activation modulates FGF-2 gene expression in rat prefrontal cortex and hippocampus. J Neurosci Res 74:74–80.
- Gogolla N, Caroni P, Lüthi A, Herry C (2009) Perineuronal nets protect fear memories from erasure. Science 325:1258–1261.
- Gomez-Pinilla F, Dao L, So V (1997) Physical exercise induces FGF-2 and its mRNA in the hippocampus. Brain Res 764:1–8.

- Gomez-Pinilla F, Vu L, Cotman CW (1995) Regulation of astrocytes proliferation by FGF-2 and heparin sulphate *in vivo*. J Neurosci 15:2021–2029.
- Gonzalez AM, Berry M, Maher PA, Logan A, Baird A (1995) A comprehensive analysis of the distribution of FGF-2 and FGFR1 in the rat brain. Brain Res 701:201–226.
- Goosens KA, Maren S (2001) Contextual and auditory fear conditioning are mediated by the lateral, basal, and central amygdaloid nuclei in rats. Learn Mem 8:148–155.
- Graham BM, Langton JM, Richardson R (in press) Pharmacological enhancement of fear reduction: preclinical models. Br J Pharmacol.
- Graham BM, Richardson R (2009a) Acute systemic fibroblast growth factor-2 enhances long-term memory in developing rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 91:424–430.
- Graham BM, Richardson R (2009b) Acute systemic fibroblast growth factor-2 enhances long-term extinction of fear and reduces reinstatement in rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 34:1875–1882.
- Graham BM, Richardson R (2010a) Early-life exposure to fibroblast growth factor-2 facilitates context-dependent long-term memory in developing rats. Behav Neurosci 124:337–345.
- Graham BM, Richardson R (2010b) Fibroblast growth factor-2 enhances extinction and prevents renewal of conditioned fear. Neuropsychopharmacology 35:1348–1355.
- Graham BM, Richardson R (2011) Fibroblast growth factor-2 alters the nature of extinction. Learn Mem 18:80–84.
- Helmstetter FJ, Bellgowan PS (1994) Effects of muscimol applied to the basolateral amygdala on acquisition and expression of contextual fear conditioning in rats. Behav Neurosci 108:1005–1009.
- Ishiyama J, Saito H, Abe K (1991) Epidermal growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor promote the generation of long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus of anaesthetized rats. Neurosci Res 12:403–411.
- Kaibuchi K, Tsuda T, Kikuchi A, Tanimoto T, Yamashita T, Takai Y (1986) Possible involvement of protein kinase C and calcium ion in growth factor-induced expression of c-myc oncogene in swiss 3T3 fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 261:1187–1192.
- Kandel ER (2001) The molecular biology of memory storage: a dialogue between genes and synapses. Science 294:1030–1038.
- Kempermann G, Wiskott L, Gage FH (2004) Functional significance of adult neurogenesis. Curr Opin Neurobiol 14:186–191.
- Kim JH, Richardson R (2007) A developmental dissociation of context and GABA effects on extinguished fear in rats. Behav Neurosci 121:131–139.
- Kim JH, Richardson R (2010) New findings on extinction of conditioned fear early in development: theoretical and clinical implications. Biol Psychiatry 67:279–303.
- Klint P, Claesson-Welsh L (1999) Signal transduction by fibroblast growth factor receptors. Front Biosci 4:165–177.
- Laham RJ, Chronos NA, Pike M, Leimbach ME, Udelson JE, Pearlman JD et al. (2000) Intracoronary basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2) in patients with severe ischemic heart disease: results of a phase I open-label dose escalation study. JACC 36:2132–2139.
- Langton JM, Richardson R (2009) The role of context in the reextinction of learned fear. Neurobiol Learn Mem 92:496–503.
- Langton JM, Richardson R (2010) The temporal specificity of the switch from NMDAr-dependent extinction to NMDAr-independent re-extinction. Behav Brain Res 208:646–649.
- Laurent V, Marchand AR, Westbrook RF (2008) The basolateral amygdala is necessary for learning but not relearning extinction of context conditioned fear. Learn Mem 15:304–314.
- Lazarous DF, Unger EF, Epstein SE, Stine A, Arevalo JL, Chew EY, Quyyumi AA (2000) Basic fibroblast growth factor in patients with intermittent claudication: results of a phase I trial. JACC 36:1239–1244.
- Lederman RJ, Mendelsohn FO, Anderson RD, Saucedo JF, Tenaglia AN, Hermiller JB, Hillegass WB, Rocha-Singh K, Moon TE, Whitehouse MJ, Annex BH (2002) Therapeutic angiogenesis with re-

combinant fibroblast growth factor-2 for intermittent claudication (the TRAFFIC study): randomised trial. Lancet 359:2053–2058.

- Ledgerwood L, Richardson R, Cranney J (2003) Effects of D-cycloserine on extinction of conditioned freezing. Behav Neurosci 117:341–349.
- LeDoux JE (2007) The amygdala. Curr Biol 17:868–874. Lin C, Yeh S, Lu H, Gean P (2003) The similarities and diversities of
- signal pathways leading to consolidation of conditioning and consolidation of extinction of fear memory. J Neurosci 23:8310–8317.
- Lu Y, Christian K, Lu B (2008) BDNF: a key regulator for protein synthesis-dependent LTP and long-term memory? Neurobiol Learn Mem 89:213–323.
- Luine V, Villegas M, Martinez C, McEwen BS (1994) Repeated stress causes reversible impairments of spatial memory performance. Brain Res 639:167–170.
- Mallei A, Shi B, Mocchetti I (2002) Antidepressant treatments induce the expression of basic fibroblast growth factor in cortical and hippocampal neurons. Mol Pharmacol 61:1017–1024.
- Matsuda S, Saito H, Nishiyama N (1990) Effect of basic fibroblast growth factor on neurons cultured from various regions of postnatal rat brain. Brain Res 520:310–316.
- Milad MR, Rauch SL, Pitman RK, Quirk GJ (2006) Fear extinction in rats: implications for human brain imaging and anxiety disorders. Biol Psychiatry 73:61–71.
- Mineka S, Mystkowski JL, Hladek D, Rodriguez BI (1999) The effects of changing context on return of fear following exposure therapy for spider fear. J Consult Clin Psychol 67:599–604.
- Moffett J, Kratz J, Myers J, Stachowiak EK, Florkiewicz RZ, Stachowizk MK (1998) Transcriptional regulation of fibroblast growth factor-2 expression in human astrocytes: implications for cell plasticity. Mol Biol Cell 9:2269–2285.
- Molteni R, Fumagalli F, Magnaghi V, Roceri M, Gennarelli M, Racagni G, Melcangi RC, Riva MA (2001) Modulation of fibroblast growth factor-2 by stress and corticosteroids: from developmental events to adult brain plasticity. Brain Res Rev 37:249–258.
- Morrison RS, Sharma A, de Vellis J, Bradshaw RA (1986) Basic fibroblast growth factor supports the survival of cerebral cortical neurons in primary culture. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83:7537–7541.
- Myers KM, Davis M (2007) Mechanisms of fear extinction. Mol Psychiatry 12:120–150.
- Mystkowski JL, Craske MG, Echiverri AM (2002) Treatment context and return of fear in spider phobia. Behav Ther 33:399–414.
- Nanberg E, Morris C, Higgins T, Vara F, Rozengurt E (1990) Fibroblast growth factor stimulates protein kinase C in quiescent 3T3 cells without Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization or inositol phosphate accumulation. J Cell Physiol 143:232–242.
- Nestler EJ, Hyman SE, Malenka RC (2001) Molecular neuropharmacology: a foundation for clinical neuroscience, 2nd ed. New York: The McGraw Hill Companies.
- Numakawa T, Yokomaku D, Kiyosue K, Adachi N, Matsumoto T, Numakawa Y, Taguchi T, Hatanaka H, Yamada M (2002) Basic fibroblast growth factor evokes a rapid glutamate release through activation of the MAPK pathway in cultured cortical neurons. J Biol Chem 277:28861–28869.
- Ohkubo Y, Uchida AO, Shin D, Partanen J, Vaccarino F (2004) Fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 is required for the proliferation of hippocampal progenitor cells and for hippocampal growth in mouse. J Neurosci 24:6057–6069.
- Ornitz DM, Itoh N (2001) Fibroblast growth factors. Genome Biol 2:1–12.
- Peltier J, O'Neill A, Schaffer DV (2007) PI3K/Akt and CREB regulate adult neural hippocampal progenitor proliferation and differentiation. Dev Neurobiol 67:1348–1361.
- Perez JA, Clinton SM, Turner CA, Watson SJ, Akil H (2009) A new role for FGF2 as an endogenous inhibitor of anxiety. J Neurosci 29:6379–6397.
- Peters J, Dieppa-Perea LM, Melendez LM, Quirk GJ (2010) Induction of fear extinction with hippocampal-infralimbic BDNF. Science 328:1288–1290.

- Pugh RC, Rudy JW (1996) A developmental analysis of contextual fear conditioning. Dev Psychobiol 29:87–100.
- Quirk GJ (2002) Memory for extinction of conditioned fear is longlasting and persists following spontaneous recovery. Learn Mem 9:402–407.
- Quirk GJ, Mueller D (2008) Neural mechanisms of extinction learning and retrieval. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:56–72.
- Rai KS, Hattiangady B, Shetty AK (2007) Enhanced production and dendritic growth of new dentate granule cells in the middle-aged hippocampus following intracerebroventricular FGF-2 infusions. Eur J Neurosci 26:1765–1779.
- Rattiner LM, Davis M, French CT, Ressler KJ (2004) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and tyrosine kinase receptor B involvement in amygdala-dependent fear conditioning. J Neurosci 24:4796–4806.
- Ray J, Peterson DA, Schinstine M, Gage FH (1993) Proliferation, differentiation, and long-term culture of primary hippocampal neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:3602–3606.
- Riva M, Fumagalli F, Biota JMC, Donati E, Racagni G (1995a) Adrenalectomy reduces FGF-1 and FGF-2 gene expression in specific rat brain regions and differently affects their induction by seizures. Mol Brain Res 34:190–196.
- Riva M, Fumagalli F, Racagni G (1995b) Opposite regulation of basic fibroblast growth factor and nerve growth factor gene expression in rat cortical astrocytes following dexamethasone treatment. J Neurochem 64:2526–2533.
- Rudy JW (1993) Contextual conditioning and auditory cue conditioning dissociate during development. Behav Neurosci 107:887–891.
- Rudy JW, Morledge P (1994) Ontogeny of contextual fear conditioning in rats: implications for consolidation, infantile amnesia, and hippocampal system function. Behav Neurosci 108:227–234.
- Samorajski T, Delaney C, Durham L, Ordy JM, Johnson JA, Dunlap WP (1985) Effect of exercise on longevity, body weight, locomotor performance, and passive-avoidance memory of C57BL/6J mice. Neurobiol Aging 6:17–24.
- Sananes CB, Davis M (1992) N-methyl-D-aspartate lesions of the lateral and basolateral nuclei of the amygdala block fear-potentiated startle and shock sensitization of startle. Behav Neurosci 106:72–80.
- Shitaka Y, Matsuki N, Saito H, Katsuki H (1996) Basic fibroblast growth factor increases functional L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels in fetal rat hippocampal neurons: implications for neurite morphogenesis *in vitro*. J Neurosci 16:6476–6489.
- Shors TJ, Miesegaes G, Beylin A, Zhao M, Rydel T, Gould E (2001) Neurogenesis in the adult is involved in the formation of trace memories. Nature 410:372–376.
- Shors TJ, Townsend JA, Zhao M, Kozorovitskiy Y, Gould E (2002) Neurogenesis may relate to some but not all types of hippocampaldependent learning. Hippocampus 12:578–584.
- Soto I, Rios-Munoz W, Blanco RE (2004) FGF2 up-regulates the expression of BDNF and TrkB in retinal ganglion cells after nerve injury through the activation of the ERK/CREB signaling pathway. J Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 45: Abstract 727.
- Stevens HE, Smith KM, Maragnoli M, Fagel D, Borok E, Shanabrough M, Horvath TL, Vaccarino FM (2010) Fgfr2 is required for the development of the medial prefrontal cortex and its connections with limbic circuits. J Neurosci 30:5590–5602.
- Sung JY, Shin SW, Ahn YS, Chung KC (2001) Basic fibroblast growth factor-induced activation of novel CREB kinase during the differentiation of immortalized hippocampal cells. J Biol Chem 276:13858–13866.
- Terlau H, Seifert W (1990) Fibroblast growth factor enhances longterm potentiation in the hippocampal slice. Eur J Neurosci 2:973–977.
- Thompson PJ (1991) Antidepressants and memory: a review. Hum Psychopharmacol 6:79–90.

- Tsuda T, Kaibuchi K, Kawahara Y, Fukuzaki H, Takai Y (1985) Induction of protein kinase C activation and Ca2+ mobilization by fibroblast growth factor in Swiss 3T3 cells. FEBS 191:205–210.
- Turner CA, Akil H, Watson SJ, Evans SJ (2006) The fibroblast growth factor system and mood disorders. Biol Psychiatry 59:1128–1135.
- Unsicker K, Grothe C, Otto D, Westermann R (1991) Basic fibroblast growth factor in neurons and its putative functions. Ann N Y Acad Sci 638:300–305.
- Van praag H, Christie BR, Sejnowski TJ, Gage FH (1999) Running enhances neurogenesis, learning, and long-term potentiation in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:13427–13431.
- Vicario-Abejon C, Johe KK, Hazel DC, McKay RDG (1995) Functions of basic fibroblast growth factor and neurotrophins in the differentiation of hippocampal neurons. Neuron 15:105–114.
- Wagner JP, Black IB, DiCicco-Bloom E (1999) Stimulation of neonatal and adult brain neurogenesis by subcutaneous injection of basic fibroblast growth factor. J Neurosci 19:6006–6016.
- Walicke PA (1988) Basic and acidic fibroblast growth factors have trophic effects on neurons from multiple CNS regions. J Neurosci 8:2618–2627.
- Walicke PA, Cowan WM, Ueno N, Baird A, Guillemin R (1986) Fibroblast growth factor promotes survival of dissociated hippocampal neurons and enhances neurite extension. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83:3012–3016.
- Walker DL, Ressler KJ, Lu KT, Davis M (2002) Facilitation of conditioned fear extinction by systemic administration or intra-amygdala infusions of D-cycloserine as assessed with fear-potentiated startle in rats. J Neurosci 22:2343–2351.
- Walker DL, Toufexis DJ, Davis M (2003) Role of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis versus the amygdala in fear, stress, and anxiety. Eur J Pharmacol 463:199–216.
- Ward GR, Franklin SO, Gerald TM, Dempsey KT, Clodfelter DE Jr, Krissinger DA, Patel KM, Vrana KE, Howlett AC (2007) Glucocorticoids plus opioids up-regulate genes that influence neuronal function. Cell Mol Neurobiol 27:651–660.
- Weickert CS, Kittell DA, Saunders RC, Herman MM, Horlick RA, Kleinman JE, Hyde TM (2005) Basic fibroblast growth factor and fibroblast growth factor receptor-1 in the human hippocampal formation. Neuroscience 131:219–233.
- Weisskpof MG, Bauer EP, LeDoux JE (1999) L-type voltage-gated calcium channels mediate NMDA independent associative longterm potentiation at thalamic input synapses to the amygdala. J Neurosci 19:10512–10519.
- Wilensky AE, Schafe GE, Kristensen MP, LeDoux JE (2006) Rethinking the fear circuit: the central nucleus of the amygdala is required for the acquisition, consolidation, and expression of pavlovian fear conditioning. J Neurosci 26:12387–12396.
- Williams EJ, Walsh FS, Doherty P (2003) The FGF receptor uses the endocannabinoid signaling system to couple to an axonal growth response. J Cell Biol 160:481–486.
- Yang Y, Chao P, Lu K (2006) Systemic and intra-amygdala administration of glucocorticoid agonist and antagonist modulate extinction of conditioned fear. Neuropsychopharmacology 31:912–924.
- Yang YL, Lu KT (2005) Facilitation of conditioned fear extinction by p-cycloserine is mediated by mitogen-activated protein kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase cascades and requires de novo protein synthesis in basolateral nucleus of amygdala. Neuroscience 134:247–260.
- Yap CSL, Richardson R (2007) Extinction in the developing rat: an examination of renewal effects. Dev Psychobiol 49:565–575.
- Zhao M, Li D, Shimazu K, Zhou Y, Lu B, Deng C (2007) Fibroblast growth factor receptor-1 is required for long-term potentiation, memory consolidation, and neurogenesis. Biol Psychiatry 62: 381–390.

(Accepted 17 May 2011) (Available online 26 May 2011)